Felin-y-coed
W/12/3884

Tir Gofal Farm Visit Historic Environment Report

Report No. 2004/07

Report Prepared for:
Countryside Council for Wales



CAMBRIA ARCHAEOLOGY

REPORT NO. 2004/07
PROJECT RECORD NO. 48447

21 January 2004

Felin-y-coed
Tir Gofal Farm Visit Historic Environment Report

By

William Steele

Cambria Archaeology is the marketing name of the Dyfed Archaeological Trust Limited.
The report has been prepared for the specific use of the client. The Dyfed Archaeological Trust Ltd can

accept no responsibility for its use by any other person or personswho may read it or rely on the
information it contains.

ARCHAEOLEG CAMBRIA

Ymddiriedolaeth Archaeolegol Dyfed Cyf CAMBRIA ARCHAEOLOGY
Neuadd y Sir, Stryd Caerfyrddin, Llandeilo, Sir @geldin SA19 6AF Dyfed Archaeological Trust Limited
Ffon: Ymholiadau Cyffredinol 01558 823121 The Shire Hall, Carmarthen Street, Llandeilo, Carmarthenshire SA19 6AF
Adran Rheoli Treftadaeth 01558 823131 Tel: General Enquiries 01558 823121
Ffacs: 01558 823133 Heritage Management Section 01558 823131
Ebost: cambria@acadat.com Gwefan: www.acadat.com Fax: 01558 823133

Email: cambria@acadat.com Website: www.acadat.com

The Trust is both a Limited Company (No. 1198990) and a Registered Charity (No. 504616)
CADEIRYDD CHAIRMAN: B.C.BURNHAM, MA PHD FSA MIFA. CYFARWYDDWR DIRECTOR: E G HUGHESBA MIFA



CONTENTS

Introduction 3
Method Statement 3
General Description of farm 4
Main Management Recommendations 5
Gazetteer of Sites and Monuments 6
Site and Area Status Glossary 17
References 17
Quality Assurance Report 18
Farm Map 19
INTRODUCTION

This report is intended to provide a statementhencondition and recommended
management of all known archaeological and histbsites and features on this farm
at the time it was visited by Cambria Archaeolofyis information will be used to
inform the Tir Gofal Management Agreement for taen.

Method Statement
The farm visit consisted of two phases:

Phase 1 was a rapid search of all readily availdbteimentary, cartographic and published
sources to try to understand the historical deveak of the farm and the wider landscape and to
identify new sites of archaeological interest. Skarches undertaken include information held in
the regional Sites and Monuments Record, the rate@aunty Records Office and the National
Library of Wales. New sites, or areas of interestenplotted onto a Geographical Information
System based map for use during the field survdyf@nthe final report.

Phase 2 was a farm visit to assess the extengatbaiand current condition of the archaeological
and historical sites identified during the resegihse. Due to time constraints recording is rapid
and consists of photographs and sites notes. Sbthe sites may not have been visited. The
information gained during the visit has been usedetermine their management
recommendations.



GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF FARM
Felin-y-coed (PRN 50005) is centred on grid refeeeBN64302670 in the community of
Manordeilo and Salem in Carmarthenshire. The faas visited on 8 January 2004.

It falls within the Tywi Valley registered lands@pf outstanding historic interest. This area has
also been assessed as part of the Historic Lanel€tiagracterisation project, which identifies the
different historic landscape components which giwspecific area its unique qualities. It lies
within the Cwm-Ifor — Manordeilo Historic Landsca@@aracter Area: 201.

The holding occupies a west facing slope abovétba Dulais. Farmland is divided in to
medium sized irregular fields by hedges on lowtebenks, which are in various stages of
becoming grown out. The farm and environs had leeetosed in the present field pattern by the
time of the tithe survey in the second quartehefriineteenth century, but the process may have
taken place at an earlier date, possibly durindates Medieval period.

The farmstead itself (PRN 50006) can be traced taek least the Old Series Ordnance Survey
map of 1831, where it appears centred on two rquggalallel building ranges (PRNs 50007,
50008). This basic layout remains largely uncharigddy, and the farmstead retains good
historic character.

The Afon Dulais borders the north and west sidegb@ffarm. It is a modest river and little over
15 kilometres in length, but this belies its ecormmmportance. Several historic corn and
woollen mills are known to lie along its cours@rir a few kilometres below its source to its
confluence with the Tywi. Despite its suggestiothia place-name, the corn mill at Felin-y-coed
(PRN 26595) is little documented. Sales particufiems 1836 report the transfer Bfelin-y-coed
farmstead and water corn grist mill to an R. PEké position of the mill can be inferred from the
1 inch to 1 mile Old Series Ordnance Survey maf@83fl, which shows a leat approaching a
small building to the west of the farmstead. Furthetail is obscured by the small scale of the
map. No surface traces of the mill survive tod#hcaigh the leat (PRN 50010) and mill pond
(PRN 50011) can still be traced in woods and fandlto the north and east.

A brick works (PRN 50012) was later establishedtansite of the mill. Little is known about

this later industry, although it is believed logdth have been called Glan-Thames brickworks
after the farmstead across the river. With the mtEsef any specific cartographic or documentary
evidence details such as the duration and extethieadperation cannot be known.



MAIN MANAGEMENT RECOMMENDATIONS
The landowner is keen to undertake restoration svtwka combination farm building on the
south side of the farmyard at Felin-y-coed underT-Gofal scheme.

PRN 50008 COMBINATION FARM BUILDING

The landowner is keen to return the building téadble condition under the Tir Gofal scheme.
This is to be welcomed. With the exception of thefr it is unaltered from its original
appearance and is a fine example of its type. mp@itance of the building increases when it is
considered that it forms part of a planned farntstedbroadly contemporary date.

It is proposed that the south wall will be undengd in order to enhance stability. Such works
are potentially damaging to any below ground arolwagcal deposits. Cambria Archaeology
should be contacted if any archaeological feataresructural remains are encountered during
these works in order to arrange for an appropreterd to be made.

Some of the roof timbers will need to be repladeéte range is to be maintained in a
weatherproof condition. Where possible, originafrimbers should be retained, otherwise
replacement materials should be considered oreddiklike basis.

The corrugated iron roof should be reinstated paired where necessary following the
restoration works. Re-roofing the range with staiald also be considered, and would enhance
the historic appearance of the building and theésead as a whole.

The building would benefit from some general maiatece if it is to be kept in a stable

condition. vy growth on the walls should be cutatfthe roots, allowed to die and then
removed. Stumps should be spot treated in ordareteent re-growth. This should be followed

up by a programme of re-pointing and masonry cotatdn in areas where masonry bonds have
been weakened by intrusive vegetation growth. Tsee®unding the building should be
monitored for signs of instability, and felled ouped if necessary in order to prevent damage to
the roof and walls.

A preliminary archaeological record of the buildimgs made during the archaeological farm
visit. This comprised notes, an annotated sketah pahd some digital photos. It is recommended
that further recording should be made before atet #ie restoration works in order to enhance
the existing record of the structure. Some gui@slion the general photographic survey of
buildings are attached.



GAZETTEER OF SITES AND MONUMENTS

PRN 26595 Site Name FELIN-Y- Grid Reference  SN64202670
COED;
MELIN-Y-
COED
Site Type CORN MILL Period Post
Medieval
Description

A former corn mill to the west of Felin-y-coed festead. Sales particulars from 1836 document
the transfer of “Pant-y-ffynnon, Melin-y-coed, thater corn grist mill of Melin-y-coed and Tir y
Pibydd in Llandeio-fawr parish”. The mill is not @tively identified on any of the historic maps
however.

The earliest complete map of the area is the 1tmdhmile Ordnance Survey map of 1831. A
leat feeding an unnamed building below Felin-y-ctaethstead provides a likely location for the
mill. The same building appears on a map of théeydtstate in the County of Carmarthenshire,
dated 1814. Its position, opposite the river frotarthames, puts it outside the estate boundary,
and no further information is provided here. Sotagification of the mills associated water
management features is given on the 6 inches tdel@ndnance Survey map of 1891. A leat-fed
mill pond appears a short distance above the ptelsaie of the mill, the leat can be sourced to
the river a little over a kilometre upstream. Adiworks was later established on the site of the
former mill, and no surface traces of the mill diny survive today. The millwheel is believed
locally to have been transferred to Taliaris forgfgger the mill at Felin-y-coed fell out of usedan
stayed there until the 1940s. The site of the le#l within an area of light woodland today.

Recommendations
Buried archaeological remains of the mill shouldobatected against damage. Ground intrusive
activities and heavy machinery operation should\maded within the surrounding wooded area.

Site Category D
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Detail from 1 inch to 1 m|Ie Ordnance Survey ma[i&‘Bl showmg the leat and probable mill to
the south-east of Glan-thames farmstead. Felinegiéarmstead (PRN 50006) appears to the
east.

PRN 50006 Site Name FELIN-Y- Grid Reference SN64312669
COED;
MELIN-Y-
COED
Site Type FARMSTEAD Period Post
Medieval
Description
A small farmstead above the Afon-Dulais. Felin-gda@onsists of two parallel building ranges
which face each other across a rectangular farmyée farmhouse with attached cow shed
(PRN 50007) occupies the northern side of the farcthyA combination farm building (PRN
50008) to the south comprises a large threshing, warich adjoins a lofted cart shed and stables.
A small shed lies to the north-east.

The farmstead itself can be traced back to at thasDld Series Ordnance Survey map of 1831,
where it appears centred on two roughly paralldting ranges. Some clarification of detail is
provided on the 6 inches to 1 mile Ordnance Sumapgs of 1891 and 1907. The two parallel
buildings persist with a small building added te tiorth-east by 1907. This arrangement remains
unchanged today, and the farmstead retains gotatibisharacter.

Recommendations

Traditional buildings at Felin-y-coed should contto be maintained using materials and
techniques which are faithful to those of theigoral construction. Trees around the buildings
should be monitored for signs of instability, aetldd or pruned if necessary in order to prevent
damage. vy growth on the walls should be cut bthe roots, allowed to die and then removed.
Stumps should be spot treated in order to preegtawth.

Site Category C



PRN 50007 Site Name FELIN-Y- Grid Reference  SN64312669

COED;
MELIN-Y-
COED
Site Type FARMHOUSE; Period Post
COW SHED Medieval

Description

A farmhouse with attached cow shed on the norté sfdhe farmyard at Felin-y-coed (PRN
50006). An unusually rare insight into the histdagout of the farmhouse is given in sales
particulars from 1836, where it is described witicthen, back kitchen, sitting room and four
bedrooms.

The farmhouse is keyed in to a cow house and lretaparently of a single build. They are of
heavy stone rubble construction, with roughly sqdaguoins and a pitched slate roof. The
farmhouse stands to two storeys and features a bagfacade which is offset from centre to
accommodate the large east gable fireplace.

The fabric of the farmhouse indicates at leastpases of building. A false gable is visible in
profile in the east wall, and indicates an extem$iom one and a half to two storeys at some
time. The yellow brick door and window dressingd ahimneys can be dated to the mid-late
nineteenth century and provide a likely date f@s #xtension. A single storey cow shed adjoins
the farmhouse to the west and features three egealyed doorways with red brick dressings.

It is currently weatherproof and relatively stat$@me ivy has become established around the
west gable end of the range.

Recommendations

Traditional buildings at Felin-y-coed should contto be maintained using materials and
techniques which are faithful to those of theigoral construction. Trees around the buildings
should be monitored for signs of instability, aeléd or pruned if necessary in order to prevent
damage. Ivy growth on the walls should be cut btha roots, allowed to die and then removed.
Stumps should be spot treated in order to preegtawth.

Site Category C




PRN 50008 Site Name FELIN-Y- Grid Reference SN64312667

COED;
MELIN-Y-
COED
Site Type COMBINATION Period Post
FARM BUILDING Medieval

Description

A combination farm building on the south side & tarmyard at Felin-y-coed (PRN 50006). It is
first seen on the 1 inch to 1 mile Ordnance Sumayp of 1831 and probably dates to the second
quarter of the nineteenth century. The range &afe rubble construction, with roughly squared
quoins and features red brick door dressings. @atadl iron has replaced the original roof
covering which was probably of slate. The rangemiges a large threshing barn, which adjoins
a lofted cart shed and stables.

The threshing barn features opposing barn door#, slee centre of the lateral walls, with
storage/ processing areas to either side of thes grassage. The adjoining stables and cart shed
are stepped uphill to the east. Some original fedland fittings survive and both feature wooden
hay racks and stall partitions. A single bay shgd adjoins the stable to the west. Both the
stables and cart shed are lofted, providing stosagee for hay or straw. A break in the floor at
the western end would have enabled hay to be fedtdo the racks in the stable below.

With the exception of the replacement roof, theédnis appearance of the building remains
largely unchanged. A rare survival is the origidabrs and windows, which are painted black
and survive almost without exception. The buildsign unusually well preserved example of its
type and an integral part of the historic farmst&adh the exception of the corrugated iron roof,
it is unmodified from its original appearance.

It is currently weatherproof and relatively stata. A-frame roof truss has collapsed and is
adding weight to the south lateral wall, which @ing outwards and becoming unstable.
Vegetation growth is a more general threat. lvypraring the east and west gable ends, has
potential to displace masonry and roof slates. Sgmneg trees are growing near to the southeast
corner of the building.



Recommendations

The landowner is keen to return the building téadle condition under the Tir Gofal scheme.
This is to be welcomed. With the exception of thefy it is unaltered from its original
appearance and is a fine example of its type. mpditance of the building increases when it is
considered that it forms part of a planned farngste&broadly contemporary date.

It is proposed that the south wall will be undengd in order to enhance stability. Such works
are potentially damaging to any below ground arolmagcal deposits. Cambria Archaeology
should be contacted if any archaeological feataresructural remains are encountered during
these works in order to arrange for an appropreterd to be made.

Some of the roof timbers will need to be repladdte range is to be maintained in a
weatherproof condition. Where possible, originafrombers should be retained, otherwise
replacement materials should be considered oreddiklike basis.

The corrugated iron roof should be reinstated paired where necessary following the
restoration works. Re-roofing the range with stadeld also be considered, and would enhance
the historic appearance of the building and the&ead as a whole.

The building would benefit from some general manatece if it is to be kept in a stable

condition. vy growth on the walls should be cutatfthe roots, allowed to die and then
removed. Stumps should be spot treated in ordareteent re-growth. This should be followed

up by a programme of re-pointing and masonry cotatdn in areas where masonry bonds have
been weakened by intrusive vegetation growth. Tsee®unding the building should be
monitored for signs of instability, and felled auped if necessary in order to prevent damage to
the roof and walls.

A preliminary archaeological record of the buildiwgs made during the archaeological farm
visit. This comprised notes, an annotated sketah pahd some digital photos. It is recommended
that further recording should be made before atet #ie restoration works in order to enhance
the existing record of the structure. Some gui@slion the general photographic survey of
buildings are attached.

Site Category C
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Plate 2- north elevation of the cart s and stasl Felin-y-coed farmstead (PRN 50006).
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PRN 50009 Site Name FELIN-Y- Grid Reference SN64332670
COED;
MELIN-Y-
COED
Site Type SHED Period Post
Medieval
Description
A small shed in the north-east of Felin-y-coed fstead (PRN 50006). It first appears on the 25
inches to 1 mile Ordnance Survey map of 1906 aspen sided building. It is modified from its
original appearance today and wooden panel sidesnolose the building. The stone walls,
which stand to about one metre, and the corrugetadoof may be original features of the shed.
Young trees and ivy now obscure the north and waéls of the shed.

Recommendations

Traditional buildings at Felin-y-coed should contrto be maintained using materials and
techniques which are faithful to those of theigoral construction. Trees around the buildings
should be monitored for signs of instability, aetléd or pruned if necessary in order to prevent
damage. Ivy growth on the walls should be cut btha roots, allowed to die and then removed.
Stumps should be spot treated in order to preegtawth.

Site Category C

PRN 50010 Site Name FELIN-Y- Grid SN64232673,;
COED; Reference SN65052734
MELIN-Y-
COED

Site Type LEAT Period Post
Medieval

Description

The earthwork remains of an old leat serving thikpond (PRN 50011) above Felin-y-coed mill
(PRN 26595). The leat first appears on the OldeSe@irdnance Survey map (1831). It is absent
from recent map sources. It can be sourced tavbeemear Glan-Dulas farmstead, a little over a
kilometre upstream. Traces of stone lining are sgentervals along the leat, which averages
approximately 2 metres wide. The leat is interrdgig farm trackways at intervals, and is silted
up for much of its length. The northern 400m ligstae of the Tir Gofal farm boundary and were
not seen during the archaeological farm visit.

Recommendations
Surviving sections of the leat should be retaiaed protected against damage.

Site Category C

12



e,
i =S

ast along the Ie R 10).

o

- lo

o Ite oking e

PRN 50011 Site Name FELIN-Y- Grid Reference  SN64232670

COED;

MELIN-Y-

COED
Site Type MILL POND Period Post

Medieval
Description
A leat fed (PRN 50010) mill pond serving Felin-yecomill (PRN 26595). It first appears on the
First Edition Ordnance Survey map of 1891 and seabfrom recent map sources. It is linear in
outline and has been created by a dam at the sawthd, which stands approximately 1m high.
The dam wall is breached and the pond holds liteer today. The flow of water to the mill
below was probably controlled by means of a slincg dam wall. No evidence of a sluice or any
other water regulation device was observed duhiegtsit however.

Recommendations
The mill pond should be retained and protectedregaiamage.

Site Category C
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PRN 50012 Site Name GLAN- Grid Reference SN64202672
THAMES
Site Type BRICKWORKS Period Post
Medieval
Description
A brick and drainage pipe works on the banks ofAfe Dulais opposite Glan-thames
farmstead. Little is known about this site, exdbgat it was known locally as Glan-thames
brickworks. No specific cartographic or documengwidence relating to the brickworks is
known, and dating is problematic, although it ifdwved locally to have been operating at the end
of the nineteenth century.

The site in question extends for an area of apprately half an acre beside the river and features
a prolific scatter of broken brick and drainageesipThere are few associated structural remains,
although a wide earthwork terrace raised abovddoe plain runs the length of the site. Further
vague earthwork terraces are stepped down slopadsvthe river. A possible brick kiln borders
the trackway which skirts the north and east sadéke terrace (PRN 50013). The whole
complex is covered in light woodland today.

Recommendations

The earthwork and buried archaeological remaitk@former brickworks should be protected
against damage. Ground intrusive activities andyheschinery operation should be avoided in
the wooded area of the site.

Site Category D

Plate 4- the remains of the pssible brick kiln I(\PR)Ol) associated with Glan-Thames
brickworks (PRN 50012).
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Plate 5- part of the clay pit (PRN 50014) vieweshirthe north.

PRN 50013 Site Name GLAN- Grid Reference SN64212675
THAMES

Site Type BRICK KILN? Period Post
Medieval

Description

A possible brick kiln associated with Glan-thamaskworks (PRN 50012). It is setin to a
gentle slope on the side of a trackway. It is rdyigljuare in plan, approximately 7m in diameter
and defined on all sides by spread earthwork bamkish stand to a maximum height of
approximately 1m.

The earthwork remains are now denuded and overgrola site lies within an area of scrubby
woodland. Trees have become established aroursiténe

This structure may be of the clamp kiln type. Skitts would have seen the bricks and pipes
stacked apart to allow fire to circulate. The whoeteuld then have been covered with old bricks
and earth. The burner then lit and tended thgfisenmond 1998, 21).

Recommendations
Surviving clamp kilns are rare, and the site shda@grotected against damage. Trees growing on
the kiln should be monitored for signs of instabiln future. Any unstable specimens should be
felled or pruned in a controlled manner before deillowed to cause damage to earthwork
remains by uprooting.

Site Category C
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PRN 50014 Site Name GLAN- Grid SN64362665
THAMES Reference
BRICKWORKS

Site Type CLAY PIT Period Post Medieval

Description

A clay pit supplying Glan-thames brickworks (PRBD%2). The clay pit is not marked on any of
the historic maps. It appears as a flat bottomethngular depression, 1- 2m deep, cutin to a
shallow hill slope. It measures approximately 5Bbyn E-W. A wide trackway skirts the north
and west sides of the pit. The site lies withiraatpre field which is grazed periodically.

Recommendations
The historic appearance of the clay pit shoulddb@med. No ground intrusive activities should
be undertaken within this field.

Site Category C
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SITE AND AREA STATUS GLOSSARY
The following abbreviations are used in the gaeette refer to site and area status. These
schedules, lists and registers are compiled andtaiaed by Cadw: Welsh Historic Monuments.

SAM - Scheduled Ancient Monument
This is a statutory designation. Scheduled Andidomhuments are protected under the
Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979

LB1, LB2* & LB2 — Listed Building 1, 2* & 2
This is a statutory designation. Listed buildings protected under the Planning
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

HLW - Historic Landscapes of Wales

Historic Landscapes of Wales are defined byRégister of Landscapes, Parks and
Gardens of Special Historic Interest in Wales: Part 2.1 Landscapes of Outstanding
Historic Interest and Part 2.2 Landscapes of Special Historic Interest. The register is
advisory and has no statutory powers.

PGW - Parks and Gardens of Wales

Parks and Gardens of Wales are defined byrtgester of Landscapes, Parks and Gardens of
Soecial Historic Interest in Wales: Part 1 Parks and Gardens. The register is advisory and has no
statutory powers.
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